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PRICEAVATERHOUSE(COPERS

ZAO PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit
White Square Office Center

10 Butyrsky Val

Moscow, Russia, 125047

Telephone +7 (495) 967 6000

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT Fax +7 (495) 967 8001
WWW.DWC. U

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Open Joint Stock
Company Uralkali:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Open Joint Stock Company
“Uralkali” (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries {the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as of 31 December 2009 and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated statement of
changes in equity for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
confrol. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonablkeness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our apinion, the accompanying consolidated financiat statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2008, and its financial perfermance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Mafter

Without qualifying our opinion we draw attention to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements
outlining management estimates of the compensations resuiting from the flooding of Mine 1 that occurred
on October 28, 2006. The ultimate outcome of the matter cannot presently be determined and costs in
excess of the amounts provided for could be significant for the Group in the future.

ZM /Zzzwéré’/x%;d/m %//’

Moscow, Russian Federation
29 April 2010



URALKALI GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless ctherwise stated)

R
URALKALI®
=

s,

Note 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 42208 30,642
Frepayments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 1,653 1,345
Letters of credit for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 2,281 3,513
Goodwill 366 366
Intangible assets 10 138 161
Deferred income tax assets 26 247 197
Financial assets 230 70
VAT recoverable 225 225
Total non-current assets 47,348 36,519
Current assets
Inventories 11 3,481 2,865
Trade and other receivables 12 5,850 6,616
Current income tax prepayments 74 49
Loans issued to related parties 6 1,578 -
Cash and cash equivalents 13 4,297 16,174
Total current assets 15,280 25,804
TOTAL ASSETS 62,628 62,323
EQUITY
Share capital 14 648 648
Treasury shares 14 (12) (12}
Share premium/(discount) (849) (849)
Revaluation reserve 150 150
Retained earnings 43,751 34 662
Equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 43,688 34,599
Non-controlling interest 27 21
TOTAL EQUITY 43,715 34,620
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 8,361 10,192
Post employment benefits obligations 27 260 284
Deferred income tax liability 26 416 232
Total non-current liabilities 9,037 10,708
Current liabilities
Borrowings 16 5,654 4,606
Trade and other payables 17 2,745 4,159
Mine flooding provisions 5,15 1,000 7,804
Current income tax payable 109 136
Other taxes payable 368 290
Total current liabilities 9,876 16,995
TOTAL LIABILITIES 18,913 27,703
62,323

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 62,628

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

-

29 April 2010 -~
1]
Chief Execyt)le Officér” Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes on pages 6 to 36 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



URALKALI GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

Note 2009 2008
Revenues 18 33,809 62,798
Cost of sales 19 (8,878) (9,410)
Gross profit 24,931 53,388
Distribution costs 20 (6,075) (9,840)
General and administrative expenses 21 (3,838) (3,204)
Taxes other than income tax (502) (402)
Other operating income and expenses 23 (1,328) (1,109)
Operating profit 13,188 38,833
Mine flooding costs 25 (1,060) (8,294)
Finance income 24 456 856
Finance expense 24 (1,350) (1,860)
Profit before income tax 11,234 29,535
Income tax expense 26 (2,139) (7,592)
Net profit for the year 9,095 21,943
Profitis attributable to:
Owners of the Company 9,089 21,937
Non-controlling interests 6 6
Net profit for the year 9,095 21,943
Earnings per share—basic and diluted (in Roubles) 28 4.33 10.45

The accompanying notes on pages 6 to 36 are an integral part of these consolidatedfinancial statements.



URALKALI GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2009 2008
Net profit for the year 9,095 21,943
Total comprehensiveincome for the year 9,095 21,943
Total comprehensiveincome for the year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 9,089 21,937
Non-controlling interests 6 6

The accompanying notes on pages 6 to 36 are an integral part of these consolidatedfinancial statements.



URALKALI GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

Note 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 11,234 29,535
Adjustmentsfor.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
intangible assets 8, 10 3,188 2,516
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 23 271 157
Loss onfixed assets disposed on mineflooding 25 - 336
(Reversal of provision)/provisionforimpaiment of receivables 23 (20) 148
Net change in mineflooding provisions 15 (6,804) 7,781
Finance income and expense, net @) 35
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net 24 751 737
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 8,613 41,245
Decrease in trade and other receivables 115 191
Increase in inventories 11 (516) (1,443)
(Decrease)increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and
other creditors (1,368) 1,334
Increase/(decrease) in other taxes pay able 70 (14)
Cash generated from operations 6,914 41,313
Interest paid 16 (393) (723)
Income taxes paid (2,049) (7,986)
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,472 32,604
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of intangible assets 10 (34) (85)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (13,606) (13,505)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 26 53
Purchase and sale of investments, net (39) 4)
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries - 9)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (753) -
(Increase)decrease in irrevocable bank deposits 13 (13) 98
Loans issued to related pary 6 (1,578) -
Dividends and interest received 628 542
Net cash used in investing activities (15,369) (12,910)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repay ments of borrowings 16 (11,880) (10,446)
Proceeds from borrowings 16 10,774 11,488
Finance lease payments 16 (38) (38)
Dividends paid to shareholders (20) (12,361)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,154) (11,357)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
on cash and cash equivalents 161 644
Net (decrease)lincreasein cash and cash equivalents (11,890) 8,981
Cash and cash equivaents at the beginning of the year,
net of restricted cash 13 16,174 7,193
Cash and cash equivaents at the end of the year,
netof restricted cash 13 4,284 16,174

The accompanying notes on pages 6 to 36 are an integral part of these consolidatedfinancial statements.



URALKALI GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share Treasury Share Revaluation Retained Total attributable Non-controlling  Total equity
capital shares premium/ reserve earnings to owners of the interest
(Note 14) (Note 14) (discount) Company

Balanceat 1 January 2008 648 (12) (849) 150 25,113 25,050 24 25,074
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 21,937 21,937 6 21,943
Diidends declared - - - - (12,388) (12,388) - (12,388)
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiary - - - - - - 9) 9)
Balance at 31 December 2008 648 (12) (849) 150 34,662 34,599 21 34,620
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 9,089 9,089 6 9,095
Balance at 31 December 2009 648 (12) (849) 150 43,751 43,688 27 43,715

The accompanying nates on pages 6to 36 are an integral part of these consolidatedfinancial statements.



URALKALI GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

1 The Uralkali Group and its operations

Open Joint Stock Company Uralkali (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) produce mineral
fettilizers, primarily potassium based, which are extracted and processed in the vicinity of the city of Berezniki, Russia,
and which are distributed both on domestic and foreign markets. The Group manufactures approximately ten ty pes of
products, the maost significant of which is a wide range of potassium salts. The Group is one of two major potash
manuf acturers in the Russian Federation. For the year ended 31 December 2009 approximately 76% of potash fertilizer
production was exported (for the year ended 31 December 2008: 89%).

The Company holds operating licenses, issued by the Pemn regional authorities for the extraction of potassium,
magnesium and sodium sats from the Bereznikovskiy, Durimanskiy and Bigelsko-Troitsky plots of the
Verkhnekamskoye field. These licenses expire in 2013; howev er based on the statutory licensing regulations and prior
experience, the Company’s management believes that the licenses will be renewed without incurring any significant
cost. The Company also owns a licensefor the Ust’-Y avinskiy plot of the Verkhnekamskoye field, which expires in 2024.

The Company was incorporated as an open joint stock company in the Russian Federation on 14 October 1992. The
Company has its registered office at 63 Pyatiletki St., Berezniki, Perm region, Russian Federation. Almost all of the
Group’s productive capacities and all longterm assets are located in the Russian Federation.

As of 31 December 2009, Madura Holdings Limited, registered in Cyprus, was the parent company of the Group. The
Group is ultimately controlled by Mr. Dmitry Ry bolovlev.

As of 31 December 2009 the Group employed approximately 13.2 thousand employees (31 December 2008:
12.9 thousand).

2 Basis of preparation and significantaccounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidatedfinancial statements are set out below.
These policies hav e been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS") under the historical cast convention except for certain financial instruments that are presented at fair
value as described in Note 2.13.

Group companies maintain their accounting records in Russian Roubles (“RR”) and prepare their statutory financial
statements in accordance with the Federal Law on Accounting of the Russian Federation, exceptfor Urakali Trading SA,
Uralkali Trading (Gibrakar) Ltd. and UKT Chicago which maintain their accounting records in US Dollars (“US$") and
prepare their financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Belarusian Potash Company maintains its accounting
records in Belorussian Roubles (“BYR”) and in accordance with Belarusian Laws and Regulations. These consolidated
financial statements are based on the statutory records, with adjustments and reclassifications recorded for the purpose
of fair presentation in accordance with IFRS.

2.2 Accounting for the effect of inflation

The Russian Federation has previously experienced relatively high levels of inflation and was considered to be
hy perinflationary as defined by IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hy perinflationary Economies”. 1AS 29 requires that
financial statements prepared in the currency of a hy perinflationary economy be stated in terms of the measuring unit
current at the balance sheet date. Hyperinflation in the Russian Federation ceased effective from 1 January 2003.
Restatement procedures of IAS 29 are therefore only applied to assets acquired or revalued and liabilities incurred or
assumed prior to that date. For these balances, the amounts expressed in the measuring unit current at
31 December 2002 are treated as the basis for the carry ing amounts in these consolidatedfinancial statemerts.

2.3 Consolidated financia statements

Subsidiaries are those companies and other entities in which the Group, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more
than one-half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
economic benefits.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or presently conv ettible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls ancther entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) and are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.



URALKALI GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3 Consolidated financial statements (continued)

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The date of exchange is the acquisition date
where a business combination is achieved in a single transaction, and is the date of each share purchase where a
business combination is achieved in stages by successive share purchases.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the acquiree at each exchange transaction
represents goodwill. The excess of the acquirer's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilties acquired ov er cost ("negative goodwill”) is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilties and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
at theirfairvalues at the acquisiion date.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impaiment indicator of the assets transferred. The Company
and all of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies.

2.4 Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and net assets of a subsidiary, including fair value adjustments,
which is attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Group. Non-controlling interestforms a

separate component of the Group’s equity.

The difference, ff any, between the carrying amount of a non-controlling interest and the amount paid to acquire the
relevant share is recognised as goodwill.

2.5 Jointventures
Jointly controlled entities

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity which
is subject to joint control. Investments in joint v entures are accountedfor usingthe equity method of accounting. Unrealised
gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the
joint ventures; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of animpairment of the asset
transferred.

2.6 Investments in associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has signfficant influence, but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent of the vating rights. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of associates
includes goodwill identified on acquisition less accumulated impairment losses, ff any. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses of associates is recorded in the consolidated statement of income, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in resew es is recognised in reserv es. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any ather unsecured recew ables, the Group does not recognisefurther
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalff of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired or constructed prior to 1 January 1997 is recorded at the amounts detemined
by an independent valuation as of 1 January 1997 less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Property, plant
and equipment acquired or constructed subsequent to 1 January 1997 is recorded at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Cost includes all costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

The amounts determined by the independent v aluation represent gross replacement cost less accumulated depreciation
to arrive at an estimate of depreciated replacement cost. This independent valuation was performed in order to
determine a basis for cost because the historical accounting records for property, plant and equipment required for IFRS
financial statements preparation were not available. Therefore, this independent valuation is nat a recurring feature,
since it was intended to determine the historical costs. The changes in carrying value arising from this v aluation were
recorded directly to retained earnings.

At each reporting date management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of propery, plant
and equipment. If any such indication exists, the management estimates the recoverable amount, which is detemined
as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to
the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of income.



URALKALI GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An impairment loss recognised for an asset in priory ears is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’'svalue in use andfairvalue less costs to sell.

Repair and maintenance expenditures are expensed as incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalised.
Gains and losses on disposals detemined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount are recognised in profit or
loss.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment items is calculated using the straight-ine method to allocate
their cost to their residualv alues over their estimated useful lives:
Usefullives iny ears

Buildings 10 to 50
Mine dev elopment costs 10 to 30
Plant and equipment 2to 30
Transport 5to 15
Others 2to 15
Land Not depreciated

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of the asset
less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of
its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group expects to use the asset until the end of its physical life.
Assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

2.8 Operating leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classffied
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the consolidated statement of income.

2.9 Finance leaseliabilities

Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to
the Group, the assets leased are capitalised in property, plant and equipment at the commencement of the lease
at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liabilty and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of futurefinance charges, are included in borrowings. The interest
cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period using the effective interest method. The assets acquired
under finance leases are depreciated over their useful life or the shorter lease tem if the Group is not reasonably certain
that it will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

2.10 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the acquirer's share of the net
identifiable assets, liabilties and contingent liabilties of the acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of exchange.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investment in associates. Goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever there are indications that goodwill may be
impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Such units or group of units represent the lowest level at
which the Group monitors goodwill and are not larger than a segment.

Gains or losses on disposal of an operation within a cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated include
the carying amount of goodwill associated with the operation disposed of, generally measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU which is retained.

2.11 Other intangible assets

Expenditure on software, patents, trademarks, and mineral and non-mineral licenses are capitalised and amortised using
the straight-line method over their useful lives.

If impaired, the cany ing amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to
sell.

2.12 Classification of financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories: trading investments, av ailablefor-
sale, held to maturity and loans and receiv ables.

Trading investments are securities or otherfinancial assets which are either acquired to generate a profit from short-term
fluctuations in price or trader’s margin, or are included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term trading exists.



URALKALI GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

2.12 Classification of financial assets (continued)

The Group classifies financial assets into trading investments if it has the intention to sell them within a short period of
time after the acquisition. Trading investments are not reclassified out of this category even if the Group’s intentions
subsequently change.

Loans and receivables are unquoted non-deriv ativ e financial assets with fixed or deteminable payments other than
those that the Group intends to sell in the near tem.

The held to maturity classification includes quoted non-deri ativ e financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group has both the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Management determines
the classification of investment securities held to maturity at their initial recognition and reassesses the appropriateness
of that classffication at each balance sheet date.

All other financial assets are included in the availablefor-sale category.

2.13 Initial recognition of financia instruments

Trading investments and derivatives are intially recorded at fairvalue. All ather financial assets and liabilities are initially
recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price.
A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a diff erence between the fair value and the transaction
price which can be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation
technique whose inputs include only data from obsernable markets.

Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss for trading investments and in equity for assets classified as
av ailablefor sale.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the financial instrumernt.

2.14 Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises financial assets when (i) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets
hav e otherwise expired or (ii) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets
or (iii) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substartially all risks and rewards of ownership but has not
retained control. Cortrol is retained if the counterparty does not hav e the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety
to an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale.

2.15 Available-for-sadeinvestments

Av ailablefor-sale investments are carried at fairvalue. Interest income on av ailablefor-sale debt securities is calculated
using the effective interest method and recognised in prdfit or loss. Dividends on av ailablefor-sale equity instruments
are recognised in prdfit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. All other elements of changes
in the fair value are deferred in equity urtil the investment is derecognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is removed from equity to prdfit or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that
occurred after the inttial recognition of availableforsale investments. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an equity security below its cost is an indicator that it is impaired. The cumulative impairment loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the currentfair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments are not reversed through profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument
classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impaiment loss is reversed through current period’s prdfit or loss.

2.16 Income taxes

Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with legislation enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the Russian Federation for entities incorporated in the
Russian Federation, in Switzerland for Urakali Trading SA, in Gibraltar for Uralkali Trading (Gibraltar) Ltd,
in the USA for UKT Chicago and in Belarussia for Belarusian Patash Company. The income tax charge comprises
current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in the consolidated statement of income unless it relates to transactions
that are recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

The Group's uncertain tax positions are assessed by managemert at every balance sheet date. Liabilties are recorded
forincome tax positions that are detemined by management as less likely than not to be sustained if challenged by tax
authorities, based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date. Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the balance sheet date.

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of taxable prdfits
or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxes cther than onincome are recorded within operating expenses.



URALKALI GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

2.16 Income taxes (continued)

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liabilty method for tax loss carry forwards and temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, def erred taxes are nat recordedfor temporary differences
arising on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction,
when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are not recorded for
temporary differences on initial recognition or subsequently for goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes.

Def erred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date which are
expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised.

Def erred tax assets and liabilities are netted only within the individual companies of the Group. Deferred tax assets for
deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that f uture
taxable prdfit will be available against which the deductions can be utilised.

Def erred income tax is provided on post-acquisiion retained earnings of subsidiaries, except where the Group controls
the subsidiary’s dividend policy and it is probable that the difference will not rev erse through dividends or otherwise in
the foreseeable future.

2.17 Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory is detemined on the
weighted av erage basis. The cost of finished products and work in progress comprises raw material, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overhead (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. The
cost of finished goods includes transport expenses that the Company incurs in distributing goods from its factory to sea
ports, vessels and overseas warehouses as these are costs incurred in bringing the inventory to its present location. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the cost of completion and selling
expenses.

2.18 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. A provision for impairment
of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all anounts
due according to the original tems of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original eff ective interest rate.
The amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

2.19 Cash and cash equivaents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less and deposits with original maturity of more than three months
held for the purpose of meeting shortterm cash needs that are convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to
insignificant risk of changes invalue. Cash and cash equiv alents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Restricted balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash
flows. Restricted balances being exchanged or used to settle liability at least twelv e months after the balance sheet date
are shown separately from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of financial position and are
included in non-current assets.

Bank ov erdrafts which are repayable on demand are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.20 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than on
a business combination, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of thefair value
of consideration received over the parv alue of shares issued is presented as share premium.

2.21 Treasury shares

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deductedfrom equity attributable to the Company’'s equity holders
until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any
consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the Company’'s equity holders.

2.22 Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liabilty and deducted from equity at the balance sheet date only if they are declared
before or on the balance sheet date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the balance sheet date or
proposed or declared after the balance sheet date but before the consolidated financial statements have been
authorised for issue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

2.23 Value added tax

Output value added tax is payable to the tax authorities on the earlier of (a) collection of the receivables from customers
or (b) delivery of the goods or sewices to customers. Input VAT is generally recoverable against output VAT upon
receipt of the VAT invoice. The tax authorities permit the settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and
purchases is recognised in the statement of financial posiion on a gross basis and disclosed separately as an asset and
liability . Where a provision has been made for impairment of receivables, the impairent loss is recorded for the gross
amount of the deht, including VAT.

2.24 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less transactions costs. Borrowings are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense on a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method. The Group capitalises borrowing costs relating to assets that take a substartial period of time
to prepare for use or sale (qualffying assets) as part of the cost of the asset. The Group considers a qualifying asset to
be an investment project with an execution period exceeding oney ear.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilties unless the Group has an uncondtional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.25 Provisions

Prov isions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past everts, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can
be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursemernt is recognised as a separate asset
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

The Group made no provision for warranties based on past experience of no warranty claims.

2.26 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty has performed its obligations under contract and are carried at
amortised cost using the effectiv e interest method.

2.27 Foreign currency transactions

Functional and presentation currency. ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s ertities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional
currency”). The Comparny’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency is the national currency of the
Russian Federation, Russian Roubles (‘RR”).

Transactions and balances. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-end official exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income. Translation at year-end rates does nat
apply to non-monetary items, including equity investments.

Group conpanies. The results and financial positions of all group entities (none of which has the currency of
a hy perinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated to
the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilties for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

At 31 December 2009, the official rate of exchange, as detemined by the The Central Bank of the Russian Federation
(CBRF), was US$ 1 = Rouble 30.24 (31 December 2008: US$ 1 =Rouble 29.38). The official Euro to RR exchange rate
at 31 December 2009, as detemined by the CBRF, was Euro 1 = Rouble 43.39 (31 December 2008 Euro 1 =
Rouble 41.44).

2.28 Revenuerecognition

Revenues are recognised on the date of risks transfer under the appropriate INCOTERMS specified in the sales
contracts, as this is the date when the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customers. For “Free On
Board” (FOB) transactions, the title to goods transfers as soon as the goods are loaded on the ship. For “Delivery At
Frontier” (DAF) transactions, the title to goods transfers only when goods cross the Russian border. For “Free Carrier”
(FCA) terms, the title transfers when goods are loaded on the first carrier (railway carriages). For “Cost and Freight”
(CFR) terms, the title transf ers when goods pass the rail of the ship in the port of shipment.

Sales of serwvices are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.

Sales are shown net of VAT, export duties and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenues are
measured at the fair value of the consideration receiv ed or recei able.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

2.29 Transhipment costs

Transhipment costs incurred by OJSC Battic Buker Terminal (“BBT”), a 100% subsidiary whose activity is related to
transhipment of fertilisers produced by the Group, are presented within distribution costs. These costs include
depreciation, pay roll, material expenses and various general and administrative expenses.

2.30 Employee benefits

Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social insurance funds, paid annual leave
and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits (such as health sewices and kindergarten services) are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employ ees of the Group.

2.31 Social costs

The Group incurs personnel costs related to the provision of benefits such as health services and charity costs related to
v arious social programmes. These amounts hav e been charged to ather operating expenses.

2.32 Pension costs

In the normal course of business the Group contributes to the Russian Federation state pension scheme on behalf of
its employ ees. Mandatory contributions to the governmental pension scheme are expensed as incurred.

For defined benefit pension plans, the cost of providing benefits is detemined using the Projected Unit Credit Method
and is charged to the consolidated statement of income so as to spread the cost over the sewice period of the
employ ees. An interest cost representing the unwinding of the discount rate on the scheme liabilities is charged to the
consolidated statement of income. The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, in respect
of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date. The
plans are not externally funded. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by the Group. The present value of
the defined benefit obligation is detemined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have tems of
maturity approximating the terms of the relevant pension liability.

All actuarial gains and losses which arise in calculating the present value of the defined benefit obligation are recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of income.

2.33 Earnings per share

Earnings per share are determined by dividing the net income attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted av erage number of participating shares outstanding during the repotrting year.

2.34 Segment reporting

The Group identifies the segment in accordance with the criteria set forth in IFRS 8 “Operating segments”, and based on
the way the operations of the Company are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to analyse
performance and allocate resources. The chief operating decision-maker has been determined as the Board of
Directors. It was detemined, that the Group has one operating segment —the extraction, production and sales of potash
fertilisers.

2.35 Research and development costs

Research expenditures are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to
the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that the
project will be a success considering its commercial and technological feasibilty and if costs can be measured reliably.
Other development expenditures are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Dev elopment costs with afinite useful life that
hav e been capitalised are amortised from the commencement of the commercial production of the product on a straight-
line basis ov er the period of its expected benefi.

3 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations
Certain new interpretations became effective for the Groupfrom 1 January 2009:

IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The standard
applies to entities whose debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market or that file, or are in the process of
fiing, their financial statements with a regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a
public market. IFRS 8 requires an entity to reportfinancial and descriptive information about its operating segments, with
segment inf ormation presented on a similar basis to that used for internal reporting purposes. The Group has decided to
early adopt improvements to IFRS 8 issued in April 2009, which allows the Group to not disclose information about
segment assets and liabilities in these consolidatedfinancial statements, since such infomation is not regularly provided
to the Board of Directors;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

3 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (continued)

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009). The main change to IAS 23 is the removal of the option of immediately recognising as an expense borrowing
costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to prepare for use or sale. Borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that is not carried at fair value and that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale (a qualfying asset) form part of the
cost of that asset, if the commencement date for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009. Cther borrowing costs are
recognised as an expense using the effective interest method. The Group considers a qualifying asset to be an
investment project with an execution period exceeding one year. These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the revised requirements;

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007; effective for annua periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2009). The main change in IAS 1 is the replacement of the statement of income by a statement of
comprehensive income which also includes all non-owner changes in equity, such as the revaluation of availablefor-sale
financial assets. Alternatively, entities will be allowed to present two statements: a separate statement of income and a
statement of comprehensive income. The revised IAS 1 also introduces a requirement to present a statement of financial
position a the beginning of the earliest comparative period whenever the ertity restates comparatives due to
reclassffications, changes in accounting policies, or corrections of errors. The Group has elected to present two
statements: a separate statement of income and a statement of comprehensive income. The revised IAS 1 had an
impact on the presentation of the Group’s financial statements but had no impact on the recognition or measurement of
specific transactions and balances. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the revised
requirements;

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in May 2008). In 2007, the International
Accounting Standards Board decided to initiate an annual improvements project as a method of making necessary but
non-urgent amendments to IFRS. The amendments consist of a mixture of substantive changes, clarifications, and
changes in terminology in various standards. The substantive changes relate to the following areas: classification as
held for sale under IFRS 5 inthe event of a loss of control over a subsidiary; the option to present financial instruments
held for trading as non-current under IAS 1; accourting for sale of IAS 16 assets which were previously held for rental
and classification of the related cash flows under IAS 7 as cash flows from operating activities; clarifying the definition of
a curtaiiment under IAS 19; accounting for below market interest rate government loans in accordance with IAS 20;
making the definition of borrowing costs in IAS 23 consistent with the effective interest method; clarifying accounting for
subsidiaries held for sale under IAS 27 and IFRS 5; reducing the disclosure requirements relating to associates and joint
ventures under IAS 28 and IAS 31; the enhancement of disclosures required by IAS 36; clarifying accounting for
adv ertising costs under IAS 38; amending the definition of fairv alue through profit or loss category so that t is consistent
with hedge accounting under IAS 39; introducing accountingfor investment properties under construction in accordance
with 1AS 40; and reducing restrictions over the manner of determining the fair value of biological assets under IAS 41
Further amendments made to IAS 8, 10, 18, 20, 29, 34, 40, 41 andto IFRS 7 represent teminology or editorial changes
only, which the IASB believes have no or minimal effect on accounting. The Group does not expect the amendmernts to
hav e any material effect onthe Group’s consolidated financial statements;

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate — IFRS 1 and IAS 27 Amendment
(issued in May 2008; effective for annua periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). This amendment allows
first-time adopters of IFRS to measure investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or associates at fairv alue or
at previous GAAP carrying value as deemed cost in the separate financial statements. The amendment also requires
distributions from pre-acquisition net assets of investees to be recognised in profit or loss rather than as a recovery of
the investment. This amendment does not impact the Group’s financial statements at 31 December 2009;

IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009). IFRIC 15 is not relev ant to the Group’s operations at 31 December 2009;

IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 October 2008). IFRIC 16 does not have any impact on these financial statements as the Group did not apply hedge
accounting at 31 December 2009,

Improving Disclosures about Financia Instruments —Amendment to IFRS 7, Financia Instruments: Disclosures
(issued in March 2009; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The Group does not
expect the amendments to have any material effect on the Group’s consolidatedfinancial statemerts;

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations — Amendment to IFRS 2, Sharebased Payment (ssued in January 2008;
effective for annua periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). This amendment does not impact the Group’s
financial statements at 31 December 2009;

Puttable Financia Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation —IAS 32 and IAS 1 Amendment (effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The amendment requires classifying as equity some
financial instruments that meet the definition of financial liabilties. This amendment does not impact the Group’s financial

statements at 31 December 2009;

13



URALKALI GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

3 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (continued)

Embedded Derivatives — Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 (effective for annual periods ending on or after
30 June 2009). The amendment is not expected to hav e any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements;

IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008). IFRIC
13 is nat relevant to the Group’s operations because no Group companies operate any loy alty programmes.

Unless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to significantly affect the
Group’s consolidatedfinancial statemerts.

4 New accounting pronouncements

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been published that are mandatory for
the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods and which the Group has nat early
adopted:

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in April 2009; amendments to IFRS 2, IAS
38, IFRIC 9 and IFRIC 16 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009; amendments to IFRS
5, IFRS8,I1AS 1, IAS7,1AS 17, IAS 36 and IAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2010). The improvements consist of a mixture of substantive changes and clarffications in the following standards and
interpretations: clarffication that contributions of businesses in common control transactions and formation of joint
ventures are not within the scope of IFRS 2; clarffication of disclosure requirements set by IFRS 5 and other standards
for non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations; requiring to report a
measure of total assets and liabilities for each reportable segment under IFRS 8 only if such amounts are regularly
provided to the chief operating decision maker; amending IAS 1 to allow classification of certain liabilities settled by
entity's own equity instruments as non-current; changing IAS 7 such that only expendiures that result in a recognised
asset are eligible for classification as investing activities; allowing classification of certain long-term land leases as
finance leases under IAS 17 even without transfer of ownership of the land at the end of the lease; providing addiional
guidance in IAS 18 for detemining whether an entity acts as a principal or an agent; clarification in IAS 36 that a cash
generating unit shall not be larger than an operating segment before aggregation; supplementing IAS 38 regarding
measurement of fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination; amending IAS 39 (i) to include in its
scope option contracts that could result in business combinations, (i) to clarify the period of reclassifying gains or losses
on cashflow hedging instruments from equity to profit or loss and (iii) to state that a prepayment option is closely related
to the host contract if upon exercise the borrower reimburses economic loss of the lender; amending IFRIC 9 to state
that embedded derivatives in contracts acquired in common control transactions and formation of joint ventures are not
within its scope; and removing the restriction in IFRIC 16 that hedging instruments may nat be held by the foreign
operation that iseff is being hedged. The Group does not expect the amendments to have any material effect on its
financial statements.

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions — Amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010). The amendments provide a clear basis to

determine the classification of share-based payment awards in both consolidated and separatefinancial statements. The
amendments incorporate into the standard the guidance in IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11, which are withdrawn. The
amendments expand on the guidance given in IFRIC 11 to address plans that were previously not considered in the
interpretation. The amendments also clarify the defined terms in the Appendix to the standard. The Group does nat
expect the amendments to have any material effect on its financial satements.

Classification of Rights Issues —Amendmentto IAS 32, Financia Instruments: Presentation (effective for annua
periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010). The amendment exempts certain rights issues of shares with

proceeds denominated in foreign currencies from classff ication as financial deriv atives. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendment on its financial statemernts.

IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures (amended November 2009, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011). IAS 24 was revised in 2009 by: (a) simplifying the definition of a related pary, clarifying its intended
meaning and eliminating inconsistencies from the definition and by (b) providing a partial exemption from the disclosure
requirements for government-related entities. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on
disclosures inits financial statements.

IFRS 9, Financia Instruments (issued in November 2009, effective for annua periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, with earlier application permitted). IFRS 9 replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification

and measurement of financial assets. Key features are asfollows:

(a) Financial assets are required to be classfified into two measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently
at fairvalue, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition.
The classffication depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

(b) An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and bath (i) the objective of
the entity's business modelis to hold the asset to collect the contractual cashflows, and (ii) the asset’s contractual cash
flows represent only payments of principal and interest (that is, it has only “basic loan features”). All other deht
instruments are to be measured at fair value through prdfit or loss.
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4 New accounting pronouncements (continued)

(c) All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held for trading will
be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrev ocable election can be made at
initial recognition to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other comprehensive income
rather than prdfit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains and losses to prdfit or loss. This election may be
made on an instrument-by -instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in prdfit or loss, as long as they represent a
return on investment. The Group is considering the implications of this standard, its impact on the Group and the timing
of its adoption by the Group.

IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2010). This IFRIC clarifies the accounting when an entity renegatiates the terms of its debt with the resutt
that the liabilty is extinguished through the debtor issuing its own equity instruments to the creditor. A gain or loss is
recognised in the prdfit and loss account based on the fair value of the equity instruments compared to the carrying
amount of the debt. The Group does nat expect the amendments to have any material effect on itsfinancial statements.

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement — Amendment to IFRIC 14 (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011). This amendment will hav e a limited impact as it applies only to companies that
are required to make minimum funding cortributions to a defined benefit pension plan. It removes an unintended
consequence of IFRIC 14 related tovoluntary pension prepayments when there is a minimum funding requirement. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended interpretation on its financial statemernts.

IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised January 2008; effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revised IAS 27 will require an entity to attribute total comprehensive income to
the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests (previously “minority interests”) even f this resuls in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance (the current standard requires the excess losses to be allocated to the
owners of the parent in most cases). The revised standard specifies that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result inthe loss of control must be accounted for as equity transactions. It also specifies how an
entity should measure any gain or loss arising on the loss of control of a subsidiary. At the date when control is lost, any
inv estment retained in the former subsidiary will hav e to be measured at its fairvalue. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amended standard on its financial statements.

IFRS 3, Business Combinations (revised January 2008; effective for business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
1 July 2009). The revised IFRS 3 will allow entities to choose to measure non-cortrolling interests using the existing
IFRS 3 method (proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets) or at fair value. The revised IFRS 3 is more
detailed in providing guidance on the application of the purchase method to business combinations. The requirement to
measure at fair value every asset and liability at each step in a step acquisition for the purposes of calculating a portion
of goodwill has been removed. Instead, in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquirer will have to
remeasure its previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition-date fair value and recognise the resutting
gain or loss, ff any, in profit or loss. Acquisition-related costs will be accounted for separately from the business
combination and theref ore recognised as expenses rather than included in goodwill. An acquirer will hav e to recognise at
the acquisttion date a liability for any contingent purchase consideration. Changes in the value of that liability after the
acquisition date will be recognised in accordance with other applicable IFRSs, as appropriate, rather than by adjusting
goodwill. The revised IFRS 3 brings into its scope business combinations involving only mutual entities and business
combinations achieved by contract alone. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on its
financial statements.

Other new standards or interpretations. The Group has not early adopted the following other new standards or
interpretations:

e Additional Exemptions for First-ime Adopters — Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of IFRS
(effectivefor annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010).

e |IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009);

e Eligible Hedged Items — Amendment to IAS 39, Financia Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
(effectiv e with retrospective applicationfor annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);

e |IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (following an amendment in
December 2008, effectivefor thefirst IFRSfinancial statements for a period beginning on or after 1 July 2009);

e |IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009);

e The Internationa Financial Reporting Standard for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities (issued in
July 2009). As alisted ertity, the Group is not eligible to apply the IFRSfor SMEs;

Unless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to significantly affect the
Group’s consolidatedfinancial statemerts.
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5 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying
the accounting policies. Judgements that have the maost significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and estimates that can cause a signfficant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within
the next financialy ear include:

Provisions for mine flooding. On 28 October 2006, the Group ceased production operations in Mine 1 due to natural
groundwater inflow that reached a lev el which could nat be properly controlled.

On 1 November 2006, the commission of Rostekhnadzor issued an act on its technical inv estigation of the causes of
flooding in Mine 1. According to the act, the cause of flooding was a “new kind of previously unknown anomaly of
geological structure” and “the development of two sylvinie layers AB (1964-1965) and Kr Il (1976-1977)". The
combination of circumstances in the run up to the accident, intems of the source, scope and strength was classified as
“being extraordinary and unavoidable events under prevailing conditions not dependent on the will of the parties
involved”.

In November 2008, at the request of the Russian Deputy Prime Minister, Igor Sechin, a new commission was
established by Rostekhnadzor for a second inv estigation into the cause of flooding in Mine 1. According to the report of
the second commission, issued on 29 January 2009, the flooding was caused by a “combination of geological and
technologicalfactors”.

Provision for conpensations

In February 2009, the Comparny decided voluntarily, as a part of its social responsibilty, to compensate expenses
incurred by different levels of the government for liquidation of flooding consequences including expenses for
resettlement of citizens, construction of a 6-kilometer railway bypass incurred prior to 31 December 2008, and also
partially compensatefor the deficit of financing related to the construction of a 53-kilometer railway bypass.

Thereby the Company accrued a provision as of 31 December 2008 for future expenses, which could be reliably valued
at the date of authorisation of financial statements and whose likelihood was estimated as “probable”. The provision
amounted to RR 7,804 and included the following expenses:

e Compensation of expenses related to liquidation of flooding consequences incurred by federal and regional
budgets. The compensation amounted to RR 2,314;

e Compensation for the deficit of financing related to the construction of a 53-kilometer railway bypass in the
amount of RR 5,000;

e Other compensations in the amount of RR 490, including expenses related to construction of a 6-kilometer
railway bypass of RR 454, and expenses incurred by the budget of Berezniki in relation to resettling citizens of
RR 36.

During the year ended 31 December 2009 the Company utilized the provision accrued as at 31 December 2008 and
made compensation paymernts in the amount of RR 7,804 (Note 15).

At the end of 2009 the Company was in negotioations with OJSC “Russian railway s” regarding v oluntarily compensation
of additional actual expenditures related to the construction of a 53-kilometer railway by pass inthe amount of RR 1,000.
In March 2010 the Board of Directors of the Company approved these compensations, as a part of its social
responsibility. Since as of 31 December 2009 the determination that these compensations would crystallse was
assessed as "probable"” and the Company accrued an additional provision in this amount (Note 15).

Other possible risks nat included in provision for conpensations

Additional expenses, which could be incurred by the governmentfor resettlement purposes after 31 December 2008, are
estimated in the amount of RR 184. The Company estimates the probability that it will agree to compensate these
expensesfrom “remote” to “possible” and therefore has not accrued this amount.

In July 2009, the Company receiv ed a request from OJSC TGK-9 to compensate expenses in the amount of RR 3,160.
According to the request, this amount corresponds to the development of a reserv e energy supply source in Berezniki.
The Company believes that only the expenses that are directly caused by the mine flood should be considered for
compensation. The parties established a technical commission in order to detemine whether these expenses are in fact
directly connected to the consequences of the mine flood. Currently, the Company has no reliable information as to
whether these expenses could be regarded as being directly caused by the flooding of the mine. The Company
estimates the probability of having to pay this compensation to be from “remote” to “possible” and theref ore this amount
has not been accrued.
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5 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

The procedure for calculating and compensating for mineral deposits lost as a result of mine flooding is not established
by Russian law. Howev er, the Company evaluates the risk that such claims could arise as “possible”. In the appendices
to the report of the second commission, there is a calculation of the value of lost mineral resources (from RR 25,380 to
RR 84,602) and a calculation of losses resulting from mineral extraction tax not received by the government due to
flooding from RR 964 to RR 3,215).

The Company analysed the calculations provided in the appendices and evaluated the risk of compensation in the
stated amount as “remote”.

In October 2009, the Company has received the decision of tax authorities based on the tax audit for 2005-2006. Tax
authorities have stated that in October 2006 the Company should have charged mineral extraction tax for mineral
deposits written off in the state records due to flooding. The sum of unpaid mineral extraction tax including fines and
penalties amounted to RR 782 The Company has filed its appeal to the decision, however in December 2009 that
appeal was declined by Federal Tax Sewice of the Russian Federation. In January 2010 the Company received the
claim of tax authorities to pay tax, fines and penatties. The Company believes that the conclusion in the decision is not
valid, and challenged the decision and the claim in the court. In January 2010 the Company filled a petition that the
decision and the claim are not valid, and the court has suspended the execution of tax authorities’ claim as an
interlocutory injunction. On 16 April 2010 Moscow arbitration court declined the Company’s petition. The Company
believ es that the conclusion in the decision of the court is not valid, and intends to challenge the decision in the appellate
court. In this case the decision comes into force from the date of appellate court’s resolution, f not discharged or
amended. The Company estimates the probability of this liability crystallising as “possible” and accordingly has nat made
an accrualfor this amount.

Due to a lack of information at the date of authorising these consolidated financial statements the Company'’s
management could not reliably estimate the total amount of future cash outflows related to the mine flooding and
corresponding claims of third parties; howev er, the amount could be significant and substantially exceeded the provision
accrued as of 31 December 2009.

Remaining useful life of property, plant and equipment. Management assesses the remaining useful life of propery,
plant and equipment in accordance with the current technical conditions of assets and estimated period during which
these assets will bring economic benefit to the Group (Note 8). The estimated remaining useful life of some property,
plant and equipment is bey ond the expity date of the relevant operating licenses (Note 1). The management believes
that the licenses will be renewed in due order. Howev er if the licenses are not renewed, property, plant and equipment
with net book value of RR 1,084 (31 December 2008 RR 689) should be assessed for impairment in 2013.

Land. All facilties of OJSC BBT are situated on land occupied on an annual lease basis, but the management plans to
purchase the land under the right provided by statutory legislation or to secure the assets by along-tem rent agreement
with the municipal authorities. If the Group cannact secure long-tem use of this land, non-current assets of RR 2,417
(31 December 2008 RR 2,454) should be assessedforimpaiment.

Impairment test of property, plant and equipment. At 31 December 2009 the Group performed an impaiment test of
property, plant and equipment. The recoverable amount of each CGU was detemined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a fiveyear period for JSC Urakali and fiveyear period for JSC BBT and the expected market prices for
potassium fertilizers and transhipment serv ices for the same period according to the leading industry publications, which
are broadly in line with 2009 av erage prices. The growth rates do not exceed the long-tem av erage growth rate for the
business sector of the economy in which the CGU operates. The discount rate used of 15% is pre-tax and reflects
specffic risks relating to the relevant CGUs. The Group did nat recognise any impaiment.

Impairment of goodwill. The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. The goodwill primarily relates to
expected reduction of transport costs to be incurred from synergies with the Company when exporting potash by the
Baltic Sea and is allocated to CGU JSC Urakali. The recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined based on value
in use calculations whereby cash flow projections approved by management covering afivey ear period and analysis of
sy nergies performed by an independent appraiser. Cash flows beyond that fivey ear period have been extrapolated
using a steady 3% growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed the long-temm av erage growth rate for the business
sector of the economy in which the Company operates. Pretax discount rate of 15% that reflects risks relatingto OJSC
Uralkali was used in the calculation of the recov erablev alue. The Group did not recognise any impairment.

Trade and other receivables. The Company’s management analy ses ov erdue trade and other accounts receiv able at
each reporting date. Overdue accounts receivable are not provided if management has certain evidence of their
recov erability. If management has no reliable information about the recoverabilty of overdue receiwvables, a 100%
impairment provision is accrued for trade and other receivables overdue by more than 90 days; receiv ables overdue by
more than 45 (but less than 90) days are provided for a 50% of their carrying amount.

Inventory. The Group engages an independent surveyor to verify the physical quantity of finished products
at the reporting dates. In accordance with the surveyor’s guidance and technical characteristics of the devices used,
the possible valuation error s +/-4-6%. At the reporting date the carrying amount of finished products
may vary within this range.

Tax legislation. Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to vary ing interpretations (Note 29).
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6 Related parties

Related parties are defined in IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. Parties are considered to be related if one party has
the ability to control the other party, is under common cortrol, or can exercise signfficant influence ov er the other pary in
making financial and operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed
to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. Key management and close family members are also
related parties.

The Company’s immediate parent and ultimate controlling parties are disclosed in Note 1

The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties with whom the Group entered into significant
transactions or had signfficant balances outstanding are detailed below.

Statement of financial position Nature of relationship 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
caption

Loans issued to related parties Ultimate controlling party 1,578 -
Statement of income caption Nature of relationship 2009 2008
Interest income Ultimate controlling party 16 -
Shareholder's equity caption Nature of relationship 2009 2008
Diidends declared Parent company - 8,225

Loan issued to related party

In September 2009, the Group entered into a loan agreement for a total amount of EUR 50 million with Mr Dmitry
Ry bolov lev, who ultimately controls the Group. The loan was provided at an interest rate of Euro Libor + 4% for 1y ear.
The management believes that the loan was provided on market terms and conditions since the interest rate on the loan
exceeded the rates on the US$ denominated loans (Note 16) held by the Group as of 31 December 2009.

Acquisition of subsidiary

In January 2009, the Group acquired a subsidiary (Note 9) from Blue Horizon Enterprise Ltd., an entity under common
control. The total purchase consideration of RR 753 (US$ 23,196,232) was fully paid by the Group in 2009.

Guarantees given

As of 31 December 2009, the Group had no issued guarantees to key management personnel (31 December 2008:
RR 6) (Note 29vii).

Cross shareholding

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 LLC Kama, a 100% owned subsidiary of the Group, owned 1.16% of
the ordinary shares of the Company.

Management compensation

Compensation of key management personnel consists of remuneration paid to executive directors and vice-presidents
for their sewvices infull- or parttime positions. Compensation is made up of annual remuneration and a performance
bonus depending on operating resultks.

Total key management compensation represented by shortterm employee benefits and included in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of income was RR 702 and RR 375 for the periods ended 31
December 2009 and 2008, respectively.

7 Segment reporting

Starting from 1 January 2009, the Group prepares its segment analysis in accordance with IFRS 8, Operating segnents,
which replaced IAS 14, Segment reporting. Comparatives were adjusted to conform to the presentation of current period
amounts.

The Group identifies the segment in accordance with the criteria set forth in IFRS 8, and based on the way the
operations of the Company are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to analy se performance and
allocate resources. The chief operating decision-maker has been determined as the Board of Directors. It was
determined, that the Group has one operating segment — the extraction, production and sales of patashfettilizers.
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7 Segment reporting (continued)

The financial information reported on operating segments is based on management accounts which are based on IFRS.

a) Segment informationf or the reportable segment is set out below:

Note 2009 2008
Revenue 33,809 62,798
Segmentresult (Net profit) 9,095 21,943
Depreciation and amottization (3,188) (2,516)
Accrual of provision for compensations 25 (1,000) (7,804)
Finance income 24 456 856
Finance expense 24 (1,350) (1,860)
Income tax 26 (2 139) (7,592)
b) Geographical information
The analysis of Group sales by region was:
2009 2008
Russia 4,587 4,509
Latin America, China, India, South East Asia 20,239 38,812
USA, Europe 8,713 18,851
Other countries 270 626
Total revenue 33,809 62,798

The sales are allocated by region based on the destination country.

c) Major customers

The Group had one external customer from India which represented 15% of the Group’s revenues in 2009 and one
external customerfrom China which represented 10% of the Group’s rev enues in 2008.

d) In addition to above segment disclosure management is preparing additional information that splits the result of
Potash segment activity between export potash sales, domestic potash sales and other sales. Direct Cost of sales and
Distribution expenses are allocated proportionally based on revenues. Indirect expenses, such as General and
administrative expenses, Other operating income and expenses and Taxes other than income tax are allocated between
categories propottionally based on Cost of sales. Some costs are considered as unallocated (Loss on disposal of fixed
assets, Net resulkts on sale of Belaruskali goods, Mine flooding costs, Finance income and expense, Income tax
expense). This split for the year ended 31 December 2009 was as follows:

Export Domestic Total Other Unallocated Total
potash potash  potash sales
sales sales sales

Tonnes (thousands) 1,895 602 2,497 - - 2,497
Revenues 29,189 2,878 32,067 1,742 - 33,809
Cost of sales (6,109) (1,942)  (8,051) (827) - (8,878)
Distribution, general and administrative
expenses, ather operating income and
expenses and taxes other than income tax (9,739) (1,195) (10,934) (545) (264) (11,743)
Operating profit/(loss) 13,341 (259) 13,082 370 (264) 13,188
Mine flooding costs (1,060) (1,060)
Finance income and expense, net (894) (894)
Profit before income tax 11,234
Income tax expense (2,139)  (2,139)
Segment result/Net profit 9,095
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7 Segment reporting (continued)

This splitfortheyear ended 31 December 2008 was as f ollows:

Export Domestic Total Other  Unallocated Total
potash potash  potash sales
sales sales sales

Tonnes (thousands) 4,141 527 4,668 - - 4,668
Revenues 58,222 3,190 61,412 1,386 - 62,798
Cost of sales (7,662) (975)  (8,637) (773) - (9,410)
Distribution, general and administrative
expenses, ather operating income and
expenses and taxes ather than income tax (13,456) (596) (14,052) (398) (105) (14,555)
Operating profit/(loss) 37,104 1,619 38,723 215 (1053 38,833
Mine flooding costs (8,294 (8,294)
Finance income and expense, net (1,004) (1,004)
Profit before income tax 29,535
Income tax expense (7,592)  (7,592)
Segment result/Net profit 21,943
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8 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment and related accumulated depreciation consist of the following:

Mine
development Plant and Assets under

Buildings costs equipment Transport construction Other Land Total
Cost
Balance as of 31 December 2008 8,547 5,785 16,649 4,733 13,011 543 179 49,447
Additions - - - 192 14,837 - - 15,029
Transfers 936 279 4,895 1,311 (7,538) 107 10 -
Disposals (52) (34) (501) (58) (123) (7) - (775)
Balance as of 31 December 2009 9,431 6,030 21,043 6,178 20,187 643 189 63,701
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as of 31 December 2008 3,746 4,716 8,432 1,596 - 315 - 18,805
Depreciation charge 271 175 2,340 395 - 42 - 3,223
Disposals (22) (8) (453) (45) - @) - (535)
Balance as of 31 December 2009 3,995 4,883 10,319 1,946 - 350 - 21,493
Net Book Value
Balance as of 31 December 2008 4,801 1,069 8,217 3,137 13,011 228 179 30,642
Balance as of 31 December 2009 5,436 1,147 10,724 4,232 20,187 293 189 42,208
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8 Property, plantand equipment (continued)

Mine
development Plant and Assets under
Buildings costs equipment Transport construction Other Land Total
Cost
Balance as of 31 December 2007 8,049 5,317 13,285 4,096 8,771 500 179 40,197
Additions - - - 710 9,860 - - 10,570
Transfers 701 524 4,048 - (5,325) 52 - -
Disposals (203) (56) (684) (73) (295) (9) - (1,320)
Balance as of 31 December 2008 8,547 5,785 16,649 4,733 13,011 543 179 49,447
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as of 31 December 2007 3,604 4,601 7,294 1,304 - 276 - 17,079
Depreciation charge 239 144 1,725 345 - 48 - 2,501
Disposals (97) (29) (587) (53) - (9) - (775)
Balance as of 31 December 2008 3,746 4,716 8,432 1,596 - 315 - 18,805
Net Book Value
Balance as of 31 December 2007 4,445 716 5,991 2,792 8,771 224 179 23,118
Balance as of 31 December 2008 4,801 1,069 8,217 3,137 13,011 228 179 30,642
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8 Property, plantand equipment (continued)

Depreciation

For the year ended 31 December 2009 and 2008, respectively, the depreciation was allocated to statement of income
as follows:

2009 2008
Cost of sales 2,502 1,908
Distribution costs (including transhipment activities — Note 2.29) 356 341
General and administrative expenses 241 196
Loss ondisposal of propery, plant and equipment 32 8
Total depreciation expense 3,131 2,453

In 2009 the Group incurred depreciation amounting to RR 92 (2008: RR 48), directly related to the construction of new
fixed assets. These expenses were capitalised on the consolidated statement of financial postion in accordance with
the Group accounting policy and included in assets under construction.

Fully depreciated assets still in use

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the gross cartying value of fully depreciated property, plant and
equipment still in use was RR 7,072 and RR 6,434, respectively.

Assets pledged under loan agreements

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the carrying value of property, plant and equipment pledged under
bank loans was RR 6,729 and RR 4,582 (Note 16), respectively.

9 Investments in subsidiary and jointly controlled entities
Investmentin jointly controlled entity

The Company has a 50% interest in JSC Belarusian Patash Company (“BPC”) — the remaining 50% is divided
between Belaruskali (which owns 45%) and Belorussian Railways (which owns 5%). According to BPC’s charter, all
shareholders meeting decisions may be taken only with a majority of 75%. Therefore, BPC operations are under the
joint control of Belaruskali and the Company (the “Participants”). BPC's principal activity is marketing and exporting as
an agent patashfettilizers produced by the patticiparts.

BPC's charter provides for separate accounting of the operations of each participant, including separate accountingfor
the sales of the participants’ goods and the related cost of sale and distribution costs. Administrative expenses
incurred by BPC are currently shared as follows: not more than 69% on Belaruskali operations, and nat less than 31%
on Group operations. The actual proportion depends on thevolume of goods sold by each participant through BPC.

The distribution of net income to each participant is made on the basis of their relevant results after deducting
administrative costs, unless both participants decide not to distribute. Group’s operations through BPC, assets and the
Group's liabilities located in BPC in which the Group has a direct interest are included in these consolidated financial
statements. The statement of income reflects the revenue from sales by BPC of Uralkali's products, together with the
related costs of sales, distribution and administrative costs.

Acquisition of subsidiary

On 27 January 2009, the Group acquired a 100% stake in the share capital of Sophar Property Holding Inc., the only
identffiable asset at the date of acquisition was a contract for the purchase of a corporate business jet. The total
purchase consideration for the acquired subsidiary of RR 753 (US$ 23,196,232) was equal to the net fair value of this
contract. The total purchase consideration was fully paid by the Group in 2009.

The Group's management considers that this acquisition constitutes a purchase of an asset and not a business
combination.
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10 Intangible assets

Software Other Total
Cost asof 1 January 2008 374 20 394
Accumulated amortisation (247) - (247)
Carrying amount as of 1 January 2008 127 20 147
Additions 85 - 85
Amortisation charge (71) - (72)
Cost as of 31 December 2008 459 20 479
Accumulated amortisation (318) - (318)
Carrying amount as of 31 December 2008 141 20 161
Additions 20 14 34
Amortisation charge (57) - (57)
Cost as of 31 December 2009 479 34 513
Accumulated amortisation (375) - (375)
Carrying amount as of 31 December 2009 104 34 138

The balances of intangible assets reported in these consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2009 and
2008 respectively mainly represent management information and accournting system costs and fees charged by an
external consultant for the installation of this software. The costs of the software are amortised over a period not
exceeding fivey ears. Other intangible assets are mainly represented by licenses (Note 1).

11 Inventories

Inventories consist of thefollowing:

2009 2008
Raw materials 1,819 1,557
Finished products 1,639 1,324
Work in progress 23 84
Total inventories 3,481 2,965

As of 31 December 2009 the value of circulating finished goods valued at carrying value pledged as security for bank
loans was RR 227 (31 December 2008: nil) (Note 16).

12 Trade and other receivables

2009 2008
Trade receiv ables 1,414 3,033
Other accounts receivable 421 922
Less: provision for impairment of trade and other receivables (209) (233)
Total financial receivables 1,626 3,722
VAT recov erable 1,797 1,880
Other taxes receivable 1,876 473
Adv ances to suppliers 432 435
Insurance expenses prepaid 49 40
Other prepayments 70 66
Total trade and other receivables 5,850 6,616

As of 31 December 2009 trade receivables of RR 1,239 (31 December 2008 RR 2,907), net of provision for
impairment, were denominated in foreign currencies. 68% of this balance was denominated in US$ (31 December
2008: 63%) and 32% was denominated in Euro (31 December 2008: 37%). Management believes that thefairv alue of
accounts receiv able does not differ significantly from their carrying amount.

Mov emernts on the provisionforimpaiment of trade and other receiv ables are asfollows:

2009 2008
Trade Other Trade Other
receivables receivables receivables receivables
As of January 1 (79) (154) (51) (39)
Provision accrued (147) (74) (32) (237)
Provision reversed 117 124 4 17
Prov ision written-off - 4 - 5
As of December 31 (109) (100) (79) (154)

The accrual and reversal of the provision for impaired receiv ables have been included in other operating expenses in
the consolidated statement of income (Note 23). Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off
when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

24



URALKALI GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated)

12 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of trade and other receivables is as follows:

2009 2008
Trade Other Trade Other
receivables receivables receivables receivables
Current and not impaired
Customersfrom developed countries 443 34 827 41
Customers from developing countries 512 79 1,793 -
Domestic customers 101 201 30 628
Total current and notimpaired 1,056 314 2,650 669
Past due but not impaired
less than 45 days overdue 248 - 153 55
45 to 90 days overdue - 7 141 -
Total past due but notimpaired 248 7 294 55
Determined to be impaired (gross)
45 to 90 days ov erdue 2 - 20 88
over 90 days overdue 108 100 69 110
Total gross amount of impaired accounts
receivables 110 100 89 198
Total financial receivables (gross) 1,414 421 3,033 922
Less impairment provision (109) (1200) (79) (154)
Total financial receivables 1,305 321 2,954 768

As of 31 December 2009 no trade and other receivables were pledged as collateral (31 December 2008: nil).

13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

2009 2008
RR denominated cash on hand and bank balances (interest rate:
from 0.5% p.a. to 3.5% p.a. (2008: from 0.5% p.a. to 5.0% p.a.)) 882 1,570
US$ denominated bank balances 1,792 300
EUR denominated bank balances 305 1,933
Other currencies denominated balances 11 9
US$ tem deposits (interest rate: 1.9% p.a. (2008 1.2% p.a.)) 293 1,598
EUR term deposits (interest rate: from 5% to 13% p.a. (2008 3% p.a.)) 221 2,031
RR tem deposits (interest rate: from 5% to 15% p.a. (2008: from 4.0% to 11.8% p.a.)) 780 8,733
Cash and cash equivalents, net of restricted cash 4,284 16,174
Restricted cash
Term bank deposits (12.7% p.a.) 13 -
Total restricted cash 13 -
Total cash and cash equivalents 4,297 16,174

Term deposits, except those included in restricted cash, as a 31 December 2009 have v arious original maturities but
may upon request be withdrawn without any restrictions.

14 Shareholders’ equity

Number of ordinary Ordinary Treasury Total
shares (in millions) shares shares
At 1 January 2008 2,124 648 (12) 636
At 31 December 2008 2,124 648 (12) 636
At 1 January 2009 2,124 648 (12) 636
At 31 December 2009 2,124 648 (12) 636

The number of unissued authorised ordinaty shares is 1,500 million (31 December 2008: 1,500 million) with a nominal
value per share of 0.5 Roubles. All shares stated in the table abov e hav e been issued and fully paid.
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14 Shareholders’ equity (continued)

Treasury shares. As of 31 December 2009 treasury shares comprise 24,601,344 ordinary shares of the Company
(31 December 2008: 24,601,344) with a nhominal v alue per share of 0.5 Roubles owned by LLC Kama, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group (Note 6). These ordinaty shares carry voting rights in the same proportion as other ordinary
shares. Voting rights of ordinary shares of the Company held by ertities within the Group are eff ectively controlled by
the management of the Group.

Profit distribution. In accordance with Russian legislation, the Company distributes prdfits as dividends or transfers
them to reserves (fund accounts) on the basis of financial statements prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting
Rules.

The Company’s statutory accounting reports are the basis for profit distribution and other appropriations. Russian law
identifies net prdfit as the basis of distribution. For the year ended 31 December 2009, the current period net statutory
profit for the Company as reported in the published annual statutory reporting forms was RR 1,153 (for the year ended
31 December 2008: RR 29,480) and the closing balance of the accumulated prdfit including the current period net
statutory profit totalled RR 33,643 (31 December 2008 RR 32,480). Howev er, this legislation and other statutory laws
and regulations are open to legal interpretation and accordingly management believes at present that it would not be
appropriate to disclose the amourt of the distributable reserv es in these consolidated financial statements.

15 Mine flooding provisions

Note 2009 2008
Balance as of Januaryl === 7,804 23
Utilisation of provisionfor brine injection 25 - (23)
Utilisation of provisionfor compensations 25,5 (7,804) -
Accrual of provisionfor compensations 25,5 1,000 7,804
Balance as of December 31 1,000 7,804
16 Borrowings
2009 2008
Bank loans 13,463 13,987
Short-term company loans - 439
Long-term company loans 45 45
Finance lease payable 507 327
Total borrowings 14,015 14,798

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the fair value of the current and non-current borrowings is not
materially differentfrom their carrying amournts.

The Group does not apply hedge accourting and has not entered into any hedging arrangemernts in respect of its

interest rate expaosures.

2009 2008
Balance as of January 1 13,987 10,600
Bank loans received, denominated in US$ 10,418 7,297
Bank loans received, denominated in RR 500 4,229
Bank loans repaid, denominated in US$ (11,830) (6,212)
Bank loans repaid, denominated in RR (50) (4,234)
Interest accrued 384 676
Interest paid (393) (723)
Recognition of syndication fees (144) (38)
Amortisation of sy ndicationfees 27 26
Currency translation difference 564 2,366
Balance as of December 31 13,463 13,987

The table below provides interest rates as of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 and the split of the bank

loans into short- and long-tem.
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16 Borrowings (continued)

Short-term borrowings
Interest rates 2009 2008

Bank loans in US$ —fixed interest 2008: 8.75% - 1,075

From 1 month Libor +1.6% to 1 month
Libor +3.4% (2008: from 1 month Libor

Bank loans in US$ —floating interest +1.6% to 1 month Libor +1.95%) 5,199 3,092
Bank loans in RR —fixed interest 14% 455 -
Total short-term bank loans 5,654 4,167

Long-term borrowings
Interest rates 2009 2008

From 1 month Libor +1.6% to 1 month
Libor +3.4%
(2008: from 1 month Libor +1.6%to 1
Bank loans in US$ —floating interest month Libor +1.95%) 7,809 9,820

Total long-term bank loans 7,809 9,820

US$ denominated bark loans bear a weighted av erage interest of 2.49% (31 December 2008: 5.63%).

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, loans (including short-term borrowings) were guaranteed by the
collateral of property, plant and equipment (Note 8). A bank loan of RR 455 (31 December 2008: nil) was collateralised
by finished goods (Note 11).

Bank loans of RR 5,673 (31 December 2008: RR 5,569) were collateralised by future export proceeds of the Group
under sales cortracts with certain customers acceptable to the banks.

The Group’s bank borrowings mature as f ollows:

2009 2008
- within 1 year 5,654 4,167
- between 2 and 3 years 7,809 9,820
Total bank loans 13,463 13,987

In December 2009 OJSC BBT entered into the new financial lease agreement with Federal State Unitary Enterprise
Rosmorport (‘FSUE Rosmorport”) for 49y ears. Under this agreement, BBT has leased berth No. 106 and renegctiated
the lease terms for berth No. 107. As of 31 December 2009 the leased berths were included in buildings, with a net
book value of RR 476 (31 December 2008: RR 276).

Minimum lease payments underfinance leases and their presentv alues are asfollows:

2009 2008
- within 1 year 49 38
- between 2 and 5 years 196 152
- after5years 2,157 1,447
Minimum |lease payments at the end of the year 2,402 1,637
Less futurefinance charges (1,895) (1,310)
Present vaue of minimum lease payments 507 327
17 Trade and other payables

2009 2008
Trade pay ables 1,110 2,570
Accrued liabilties 134 237
Dividends pay able 107 94
Other pay ables 407 307
Total financial payables 1,758 3,208
Accrued liabilties 446 449
Adv ances received 147 103
Def erred consideration of subsidiary acquisiion 139 132
Other pay ables 255 267
Total trade and other payables 2,745 4,159
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18 Revenues

2009 2008
Export
Potassium chloride 16,474 41,613
Potassium chloride (granular) 12,715 16,609
Domestic
Potassium chloride 2,878 3,190
Other 238 249
Transportation and other rev enues 1,504 1,137
Total revenues 33,809 62,798

In March 2008, the Gov ernment of the Russian Federation introduced duties, effective from April 2008 until April 2009,
on the export of potassium chloride outside the CIS Customs Union. The duty applicable to Urakali's potassium
chloride was 5% of the declared customs value, which the Group charged on amost all of the Group’s potassium
chloride exports. Export revenues were shown net of the abovemerntioned duties, which amounted during the y ear
ended 31 December 2009 to RR 267 (for the year ended 31 December 2008: RR 1,886).

19 Cost of sales

Note 2009 2008
Depreciation 8 2,502 1,908
Labour costs 22 2,083 2,622
Fuel and energy 1,499 1,864
Materials and components used 1,460 1,820
Repairs and maintenance 1,242 1,282
Transportation between mines by railway 201 348
Utilities 16 25
Change in work in progress, finished goods and goods in transit 172) (479)
Other costs a7 20
Total cost of sales 8,878 9,410

Expenses of RR 45 (for the year ended 31 December 2008: RR 95) related to transportating ore between mines by
automotive transport were incurred by CJSC Autotranskali, a 100% subsidiaty of the Group, and are mainly included in
labour costs, materials and components used andfuel and energy costs.

20 Distribution costs

Note 2009 2008
Freight 2,611 4,960
Railway tariff 1,628 3,203
Transport repairs and maintenance 347 572
Transhipment 340 282
Depreciation 273 259
Labour costs 22 217 137
Trav el expenses 157 158
Commissions 52 22
Other costs 450 247
Total distribution costs 6,075 9,840
21 General and administrative expenses

Note 2009 2008
Labour costs 22 2,081 1,532
Consulting, audit and legal services 318 362
Depreciation 8 241 196
Repairs and maintenance 141 92
Security 119 113
Mine-rescue crew 111 93
Insurance 67 116
Trav el expenses 59 67
Amortisation of intangible assets 57 71
Communication and information system serices 51 67
Bank charges 24 69
Other expenses 569 426
Total genera and administrative expenses 3,838 3,204
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22 Labour costs

Note 2009 2008
Labour costs —Cost of sales 19 2,083 2,622
Wages, salaries, bonuses and other compensations 1,689 2,128
Unified social tax 397 465
Post employment benefits 27 (3) 29
Labour costs —Distribution costs 20 217 137
Wages, salaries, bonuses, other compensations and unified
social tax 217 137
Labour costs — General and administrative expenses 21 2,081 1,532
Wages, salaries, bonuses and other compensations 1,868 1,295
Unified social tax 214 205
Post employment benefits 27 (@) 32
Total labour costs 4,381 4,291
23 Other operating income and expenses
2009 2008
Social cost and charity 1,031 565
Loss ondisposal of fixed assets 271 157
Provision for impairment of receiv ables (20) 148
Net result on sale of Belaruskali goods (7) (52)
Other expenses, net 53 291
Total other operating income and expenses 1,328 1,109

The Group entered into a sales agreement with BPC for processing the sales of Belaruskali goods through
Uralkali Trading SA in 2009 and 2008, respectively, in order to overcome certain drawbacks in Belarusian export

legislation.

24 Financeincome and expense

The components of finance income and expense were as follows:

2009 2008
Interest income 313 852
Dividend income - 4
Fair value gains on investments 114 -
Other financial income 29 -
Financeincome 456 856

2009 2008
Interest expense 411 702
Finance lease expense 38 38
Foreign exchange loss, net 751 737
Fair value losses on investments - 151
Letters of credi fees 150 232
Finance expense 1,350 1,860

During they ear ended 31 December 2009 the Group did not acquire any new qualifying assets for which construction
would commence on or after 1 January 2009, consequently no interest was capitalized.

25 Mine flooding costs

Mine flooding costs include costs associated withflooding at Mine 1 (Note 5):

Note 2009 2008
Dismantling costs - 111
Loss ondisposal of fixed assets - 336
State financing - (16)
Brine injection costs - a7
Monitoring costs 60 35
Utilisation of provisionfor brine injection 5,15 - (23)
Accrual of provisionfor compensations 5, 15 1,000 7,804
Total mine flooding costs 1,060 8,294

Dismantling costs are mainly represented by labour
organisations f or dismantling equipment a Mine 1

costs, depreciation expenses and costs paid to sewice
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26 Income tax expense

2009 2008
Current income tax expense 2,005 7,953
Def erred income tax 134 (343)
Effect of change in tax rates - (18)
Income tax expense 2,139 7,592

Income before taxation and non-controlling interests for financial reporting purposes is reconciled to tax expense as
follows:

2009 2008
Profit before income tax 11,234 29,535
Theoretical tax charge at effective statutory rates 1,741 5,907
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes 537 1,691
Difference in tax rates (293) (15)
Effect of change in tax rates - (18)
Other 54 27
Consolidated tax charge 2,139 7,592

Most companies of the Group were taxed at rates of 15.5% and 20% on taxable profits in the Russian Federation, the
Perm region, for 2009 and 2008 respectiv ely.

Domestic deferred income tax has been computed in these consolidated financial statements using the rate expected
to apply infuture periods (i.e. 15.5%). Deferred taxes in other countries were computed apply ing respective national
income tax rates.

31 December 31 December Charged/(credited) Charged/(credited)

2009 2008 to profitor loss to profitor loss
2009 2008
Tax effects of taxable temporary differences:
Property, plant and equipment (439) (342) (97) 196
Investments @) ) - 48
Inventories (23) - (23) 60
Borrowings (25) (5) (20) -
Accounts receiv able 4) 22 (26) 12
Other - (12) 12 (12)
(498) (344) (154) 304
Tax effects of deductible temporary differences:
Finance lease 101 65 36 (14)
Mine flooding reserve - - - (5)
Accounts payable 48 113 (65) 5
Inventories - 131 (131) 131
Tax loss carry forward 156 - 156 -
Other 24 - 24 (60)
329 309 20 57
Deferred income tax expense/ (income) (134) 361
Total net deferred income
tax asset/(liability) (169) (35)

31 December 2009 31 December 2008
Reflected in the statement
of financial position as

follows:

Deferred income tax asset 247 197
Deferred income tax liability (416) (232)
Deferred income tax asset/

(liability), net (169) (35)

The Group has not recognised a deferred income tax liabilty in respect of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in the amount of RR 10,921 (31 December 2008 RR 9,358). The Group controls the timing
of the rev ersal of these temporary differences and does not expect their rev ersal in theforeseeable future.
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27 Post employment benefits obligations

In addition to statutory pension benefits, the Company also has several post-employment benefit plans, which cover
most of its employ ees.

The Company provides financial support of a defined benefit nature to its pensioners. The plans provide for the
payment of retirement benefits starting from the statutory retirement age, which is currently 55 for women and 60 for
men. The amount of benefit depends on a number of parameters, including the length of sewice in the Company at
retirement. The benefits do not vest until and are subject to the employee retiring from the Company on or after the
abov e ages. This plan was introduced in the Collective Bargaining Agreement concluded in 2007.

The Company further provides other longterm employee benefits such as lump-sum payments upon death of is
current employ ees and pensioners and a lump-sum payment upon retirement of a defined benefit nature.

As of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 the net liabilities of the defined benefit plan and other post-
employ ment benefit plans comprised thefollowing:

2009 2008
Present vaue of defined benefit obligations (DB O) 327 361
Present value of unfunded obligations 327 361
Unrecognised past serv ice cost (67) 77)
Post employment benefits obligations 260 284

The amount of net expense for the defined benefit pension plans recognised in the consolidated statement of income
(Note 22) was as follows:

2009 2008
Current sewice cost 22 17
Interest cost 34 21
Net actuarial (gains)ylosses recognised during they ear (70) 14
Amortisation of past sewice cost 0 9
Post employment benefits (4) 61
The movements in the liability for post-employment benefit plans were as follows:

2009 2008
Present vaue of defined benefit obligations (DBO) as of 1 January 361 324
Service cost 22 17
Interest cost 34 21
Actuarial (gainyloss (70) 14
Past sewvice cost - 10
Benefits paid (20) (25)
Present value of defined benefit obligations (DBO) as of 31 December 327 361

As of 31 December 2009 and 2008, respectiv ely, the principal actuarial assumptions for the post-employment benefit
plans were as follows:

2009 2008
Discount rate 11.12% 9.30%
Salary increase 10.16% 10.16%
Inf lation 8.00% 8.00%
Benefits increase (fixed-amount) 8.00% 8.00%
Mortality tables Russia (1986-87) Russia (1986-87)

Net deficit on the post-employment benefit plans and the number of experience adjustments for the years ended
31 December 2009 and 2008, respectiv ely, were asfollows:

2009 2008
Present value of defined benefit obligations (DBO) 327 361
Deficitin plan 327 361
(Gains)/losses arising of experience adjustments on plan liabilities 47) (22)
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28 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net prdfit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding treasury shares (Note 14).
The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares: therefore, the diluted earnings per share equal the basic
earnings per share.

2009 2008
Net profit 9,089 21,937
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (millions) 2,100 2,100
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RR per share) 4.33 10.45

29 Contingencies, commitments and operating risks
i Lega proceedings

From time to time and in the nomal course of business, claims against the Group are received. On the basis of its own
estimates and both internal and external professional advice, the managemernt is of the opinion that there are no
current legal proceedings or other claims outstanding that could have a material effect on the result of operations or
financial position of the Group which hav e not been accrued or disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

Between September and November 2008, a number of purported class action lawsuits were filed in US federal district
courts in Minnesota and lllinois. Class actions are civil lawsuits typically filed by a plaintiff seeking money damages on
behalf of the named plaintiff and all cthers who are similarly situated. The plaintiffs in the suits filed in Minnesota and
Illinois are various corporations and individuals who hav efiled the suits purportedly on behalf of all direct and indirect
purchasers of potash from one of the defendants inthe United States. The complaint alleges price fixing violations of
the US Sherman Act since 1 July 2003. The Company and BPC (Note 9) were listed among the defendants, as well as
certain other potash producers. The plaintiffs in the suits have not claimed any specific amount in damages, and it is
premature at this time to assess the Group's patential exposure to the plaintiffs' claims. The management of the Group
believ es that these suits have no merit and the Group intends to defend its pasitionvigorously.

At the end of 2009 the Federal Antimonopoly Sewvice (FAS) concluded that the Company violated Clause 1 Part
1 Article 11 of the Federal Law On Protection of Competition (coordinated actions restricting competition). Basing on
this conclusion FAS could impose afine on the Company amounting up to RR 311 However the Company believes
that conclusion of FAS is not valid and intends if necessary to defend its position in court. The Company estimates the
possibility of this liability crystallising as “remote” and has not recognised any provisions in respect of this risk.

On the basis of its own estimates, as well as both internal and external prof essional advice, the management is of the
opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of these claims.

il Tax legislation

Russian tax, currency and customs law are subject to vary ing interpretations and changes, which can occur frequently.
The management’s interpretation of such laws as applied to the Group's transactions and activity of the Group may be
challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities.

The Russian tax authorities may be taking a more aggressive postion in their interpretation of the law and
assessmernts, and it is possible that transactions and activities that hav e not been challenged in the past may now or in
the future be challenged. This includes them following guidance from the Supreme Arbitration Court for anti-avoidance
claims based on reviewing the substance and business purposes of the transactions, and it is possible that this will
significantly increase the level and frequency of scrutiny from the tax authorities. As a result, significant additional
taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of
taxesfor three calendar years proceeding the year of review. Under certain circumstances, reviews may cov er longer
periods.

Russian transfer pricing legislation provides the possibility for the tax authorities to make transfer pricing adjustments
and impose additional tax liabilties in respect of certain controllable transactions, provided that the tax authorities
prove that the transaction price established by the parties deviates by more than 20% from the market price.
Controllable transactions include transactions with interdependent parties under the Russian Tax Code, all cross-
border transactions (irrespective of whether they are performed between related or unrelated parties), transactions
where the price applied by a taxpay er deviates by more than 20% from the price applied in similar transactions by the
same taxpay er within a short period of time. There is no formal guidance as to how these rules should be applied in
practice. In the past, arbitration court practice in this respect has been contradictory.
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29 Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)

Tax liabilities arisingfrom intercompany transactions are determined using actual transaction prices. It is possible, with
the evolution of the interpretation of transfer pricing rules in the Russian Federation and the changes in the approach
of the Russian tax authorities, that such transfer prices could potertially be challenged in the future. Given the nature
of the current Russian transfer pricing rules, the impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; howev er, it
may be significant.

The Group’s management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that the Group’s
tax, currency legislation and customs positions will be sustained. Accordingly, as of 31 December 2009 and
31 December 2008, no provision for potential tax liabilties had been recorded. Management will continue to monitor
the situation as legislation and practice evolve in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

ili Insurance policies

The Company generally enters into insurance agreements when it is required by statutory legislation. The insurance
agreements do not cover the risks of damage to third parties’ property resulting from the Group’s underground
activities and the risks reflected in Note 5; therefore, no losses from the flooding of Mine 1 are expected to be
compensated.

iv Environmenta matters

The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is evolving and the enforcement posture of
government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates its obligations under
environmental regulations. In the current enforcement climate under existing legislation, management believes that
there are no significant liabilties for environmental damage due to legal requirements except for those mentioned in
Note 5. The Company's mining activities and the recent mine flooding may cause subsidence that may affect the
Company'sfacilities, and those of the city of Berezniki, state organisations and others.

v Operating environment of the Group

Since October 2008, world mineral fertilizer markets have experienced a slowdown and the Group decided to cuttail its
production of potassium fettilizers in the fourth quarter of 2008 and in 2009. Productionvolume in 2008 and 2009 were
at 92% and 52% respectively of the 2007 production level In July 2009, the Group concluded an agreement with a
major Indian customer for potash deliv eries effective between July 2009 and March 2010. The prices have been set at
US$ 460 per tonne of potash (the previous price was US$ 625 per tonne effective between May 2008 and March
2009). In December 2009, the Group concluded an agreement with two major Chinese customers for potash deliveries
effective between January 2010 and December 2010. The prices have been set at US$ 350 per tonne of potash (the
previous price was US$ 560 per tonne effective between February 2007 and December 2008)

The av ailability of external funding in financial markets has significantly reduced. Such circumstances could affect the
ability of the Group to obtain new borrowings and refinance its existing borrowings at terms and conditions similar to
those applied to earlier transactions.

The debtors of the Group may also be affected by the tighter liquidity situation which could in turn have an impact on
their ability to repay amounts owed. Deteriorating operating conditions for customers may also have an impact on the
ability of management to forecast cash flow and assess the impairment of financial and nonfinancial assets.

The effects of the global financial crisis continued to have a serious effect on the Russian economy in 2009:

e lower commodiy prices have resulted in lower income from exports and thus lower domestic demand.
Russia’s economy contracted in 2009;

e the risein Russian and emerging market risk premiums resulted in a certain increase in financing costs;

e the official US$ exchange rate of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation increased from RR 29.38 at
31 December 2008 to RR 30.24 at 31 December 2009. At 1 April 2010 the US$ exchange rate was RR 29.50.

The tax, currency and customs legislation within the Russian Federation is subject to varying interpretations and
frequent changes, and other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities currently
operating in the Russian Federation. The future economic direction of the Russian Federation is largely dependent
upon the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government, together with
tax, legal, regulatory and political developmerts.

Management is unable to reliably detemine the effects on the Group's future financial position of any further
deterioration in the Group’s operating environment as a result of the ongoing crisis. It believes it is taking all necessary
measures to support the sustainability and growth of the Group’s business in the current circumstances.
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29 Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)

vi Capital expenditure commitments

As of 31 December 2009 the Group had contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment
from third partiesfor RR 5,012 (31 December 2008: RR 6,123).

The Group has already allocated the necessary resources in respect of these commiments. The Group believ es that
future net income and funding will be sufficient to cover these and any similar such commitments.

vii Guarantees

Guarantees are irrev ocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that another party cannot meet
its obligations. As of 31 December 2009 the Group issued guarantees in favour of third parties in the amount of RR 3
(31 December 2008 RR 9).

30 Financial risk management

30.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to avariety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest
rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Overall risk management procedures
adopted by the Group focus on the unpredictability of financial and commodity markets and seek to minimise potential
adv erse effects on the Group’s financial pefformance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated
in a currency that is different from thefunctional currency of the companies of the Group.

The Group operates internationally and exports approximately 76% of potash fertilizers produced. As a result the
Group is exposed toforeign exchange risk arisingfrom various currency exposures. Export sales are denominated in a
hard currency, namely in US$ or Euro. The Group maintains a balance between US$ and Euro sales in order to
mitigate the risk of US¥Euro exchange ratefluctuations. The Company is exposed to the risk of RR/US$ and RR/Euro
exchange rates fluctuations: however the Company is currently benefiting from weak exchange rate of the Rouble
against the US$ and Euro, since all the Company s major expenses are denominated in Roubles.

As of 31 December 2009, if the RR had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US$ and Euro with all other
v ariables held constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have been RR 722 lower/higher (31 December 2008: RR
381 lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on the translation of US$ and Euro
denominated trade receivables, cash in bank, deposits and foreign exchange losses/gains on the translation of US$
denominated borrowings.

(ii) Price risk

The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk, since the Group does not enter in any operations with financial
instruments whose value is exposed to thev alue of commodiies traded on the public market.

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are exposed to market interest rates changes. The Group is exposed to
fair value interest rate risk through market value fluctuations of interest bearing short- and long-term borrowings,
whose interest rates comprise a fixed component. Borrowings issued at v ariable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk (Note 16). The Group has interest-bearing assets which are atfixed interest rates (Note 13).

The objective of managing interest rate risk is to prevent losses due to adverse changes in market interest rate level.
The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into
consideration refinancing, the renewal of existing positions and akernative financing.

As of 31 December 2009, if Libor rates on US$ denominated borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, posttax profit for the year would have been RR 130 (31 December 2008: RR 96)
lower/higher, mainly as aresul of higher/lower interest expense onfloating rate borrowings.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties to transactions may default on their obligations, causing
financial losses for the Group. The objective of managing credi risk is to prevent losses of liquid funds deposited with
or invested in such counterparties. Financial assets, which potentially subject Group ertities to credi risk, consist
primarily of trade receivables, cash and bank deposits. The maximum expasure to credit risk resuking from financial
assets is equal to the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets — RR 9,783 (31 December 2008 RR 23,409).
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30 Financial risk management (continued)

30.1 Financia risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to concentrations of credit risk. As of 31 December 2009 the Group had two counterparties
(31 December 2008: nine counterparties) with aggregated receivables balances above RR 100. The total aggregate
amount of these balances was RR 448 (31 December 2008: RR 2,856) or 24% of the gross amourt of the trade and
other receivables (31 December 2008: 72%). Cash and shortterm deposits are placed in banks and financial
institutions, which are considered at the time of deposit to have minimal risk of default. The Group has no other
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Trade receiv ables are subject to a policy of active credit risk management which focuses on an assessment of ongoing
credit evaluation and account monitoring procedures. The objective of the management of trade receivables is to
sustain the growth and prdfitability of the Group by optimising asset utilisation while at the same time maintaining risk
at an acceptable level.

The effective monitoring and controlling of credit risk is performed by the Group’s corporate treasury function. The
credit quality of each new customer is analysed before the Group enters into contractual agreements. The credit
quality of customers is assessed taking into account their financial position, past experience, country of origin and
other factors. The management believes that the country of origin is one of the major factors affecting a customer’s
credit quality and makes a corresponding analysis (Note 12). Most customers from dev eloping countries are supplied
on secured payment tems.

These terms include deliveries against opened letters of credit and arrangements with banks on non-recourse
discounting of promissory notes received from customers. Only customers from developed countries with a high
reputation are supplied on a credi basis.

Although the collection of receivables could be influenced by economic factors, management believes that there is no
significant risk of loss to the Group bey ond the provision already recorded (Note 12).

The table below shows the credit quality of cash, cash equivalents and letters of credit balances on the balance sheet
date, based on the credit ratings of independent agency Moody’s Investor Sewices (for the cash balances held on
accounts in Russiathe locally tailored ratings are used) as of 31 December 2009 and 2008:

Rating 2009 2008
Aa3 3,407 8,679
Al 902 1,666
Aaa.ru 891 -
Baa2.ru 793 -
B1 393 -
Aa2 165 -
B3.ru - 1,672
Baa.l - 5,818
Bal - 580
Unrated* 27 1,272
Total 6,578 19,687

* Unrated balance contains cash on hand and other cash equival ents .
(c) Liquidity risk

In accordance with prudent liquidity risk managemernt, the management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient cash
in order to meet its obligations. Group treasury aims to maintain sufficient level of liquidity based on monthly cash flow
budgets, which are prepared for the year ahead and continuously updated during the year.

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the time remaining

from the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows at spot rates.

Note Less than 1year Between 2and 5years Over 5 years
As of 31 December 2009
Trade and other payables 17 1,758
Borrowings 6,071 8,166 -
Finance leasing 16 49 196 2,157
As of 31 December 2008
Trade and other payables 17 3,208 - -
Borrowings 5,344 10,190 -
Finance leasing 16 38 152 1,447
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30 Financial risk management (continued)

30.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to corntinue as a going concern, to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure in
order to reduce the cost of capital. The Group considers total capital to be total equity as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on a debt to equity ratio basis. This ratio is calculated
as the sum of long- and short-term bank borrowings divided by total equity.

The debt to equity ratios as of 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 were as follows:
31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Total bank borrowings (Note 16) 13,463 13,987
Total equity 43,715 34,620
Debt to equity ratio 31% 40%

As of 31 December 2009 management has set alevel of 30% debt to equity ratio as a strategic goal.

31 Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount at which afinancial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in aforced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by an active quoted market price.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available market
information, where it exists, and appropriate v aluation methodologies. Howev er, judgement is necessarily required to
interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. The Russian Federation continues to display some
characteristics of an emerging market and economic conditions continue to limit the volume of activity in the financial
markets. Market quotations may be outdated or reflect distress sale transactions, and therefore not represent fair
values of financial instruments. Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of
financial instruments.

Financia instruments carried at fair value. Trading and availableforsale investments are carried on the
consolidated statement of financial position at theirfairv alue.

Fair values were determined based on quoted market prices, exceptfor certain investment securities av ailablefor sale
for which there were no available external independent market price quotations. These securties have been fair
valued by the Group onthe basis of the results of recent sales of equity interests inthe investees between unrelated
third parties, consideration of other relevant information such as discounted cash flows and financial data of the
investees and application of cother valuation methodologies. Valuation techniques required certain assumptions that
were not supported by obsernable market data. Changing any such used assumptions to a reasonably possible
alternative would not resul in significantly different profit, income, total assets or total liabilities.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost. The fair value of floating rate instruments is normally their carrying
amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments is based on estimated future cashflows expected to
be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.
Discount rates used depend onthe credi risk of the counterpary. Carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate
fairvalues. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost which approximates current fair value.

Liabilities carried at amortised cost. The fair value is based on quoted market prices, if available. The estimatedfair
value of fixed interest rate instruments with stated maturity, for which a quoted market price is not available, was
estimated based on expected cash flows discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk
and remaining maturity. The fair value of liabilties repayable on demand or after a naotice period (“demandable
liabilities”) is estimated as the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be
required to be paid. Estimated fair values of borrowings are presented in Note 16.
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